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          1  DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Good morning.

          3  This is an oversight hearing on the Fiscal Year 2000

          4  budget as it relates to the Departments of

          5  Probation, Correction and Investigation. The hearing

          6  on Investigation will be held jointly with the

          7  Subcommittee on District Attorneys, Courts and

          8  Investigations, chaired by Council Member Juanita

          9  Watkins, who is also a member of this Committee. The

         10  Committee will then hear from the public.

         11                 The Fire Commissioner was not able,

         12  he is out of town I understand, to attend the

         13  hearing here today, so that has been deferred to

         14  this coming Wednesday at 3:00 at the end of the

         15  hearings that we had scheduled for Wednesday.

         16                 This is one of a number of hearings

         17  being conducted by the Council's Committees with

         18  respect to the information provided in the Fiscal

         19  Year 2000 Preliminary Budget, and the Preliminary

         20  Fiscal 1999 Mayor's Management Report, which

         21  compares the first four months of Fiscal Years '98

         22  to '99 and gives estimates for Fiscal Year 2000.

         23                 The purpose of these hearings is

         24  two-fold: To facilitate a greater connection between

         25  an agency's operation and the Council's budgetary
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          2  decision-making responsibility, and to provide a

          3  forum for a discussion of the issues and data

          4  reported in each agency's narrative and indicator

          5  tables.

          6                 I was surprised to see the relative

          7  lack of information provided in the reports about

          8  all three departments. These reports are mandated by

          9  the Charter and allow the public and elected

         10  officials to consider how well the City has planned

         11  and is planning for its future. The relative lack of

         12  information in the reports the Council receives is,

         13  I believe, further evidence of the need for an

         14  initiative that I have been in the process of

         15  developing and have had staff assigned, including

         16  Mr. Mark Young, that will review Mayoral agency

         17  adherence to the Charter's planning mandates. This

         18  initiative involves focusing on getting City

         19  agencies to do the planning required by the City

         20  Charter through the budget process. It will develop

         21  strategies to realign the mission and budget of the

         22  Public Safety agencies now focusing on the Police

         23  Department, so that specific money is allocated to

         24  better address specific unmet needs throughout the

         25  City. It will be designed to better ensure that
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          2  agencies are being fiscally responsible while being

          3  responsive to each community and involve looking at

          4  other cities and how they plan and what if any

          5  planning they do using the budget process.

          6                 The Committee today will inquire into

          7  how the Probation Department will maintain its

          8  capacity to function at an efficient and

          9  professional rate with a decrease of funding and a

         10  subsequent projected cut in numbers of employees.

         11                 How does the Department plan to deal

         12  with these proposed budget cuts and still provide

         13  the services it is authorized to provide?

         14                 The budget also calls for elimination

         15  of the Smith Bell Day Treatment Program, Juvenile

         16  Alternative to Court Program, funding for the Center

         17  for Employment Opportunities, which provides job

         18  placement services, the Nova Ancora Program, and One

         19  Stop Program which provide job training services.

         20                 These services were proposed for

         21  elimination before, but the Council provided funding

         22  for them in Fiscal 1999.

         23                 In particular, the Committee wants to

         24  know why the Smith Bell Program is still not

         25  reopened, despite the Council's restoration of
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          2  funding, and why the job placement program and job

          3  training program are proposed for elimination when

          4  this would appear to fly in the face of the

          5  Administration's desire for full implementation of

          6  workfare. We will also look into privatization of

          7  restitution services, the status of Family Court

          8  Programs, and domestic violence counseling.

          9                 We look forward to your testimony,

         10  Commissioner Russi, and answers to these and others

         11  issues of concern. And if I can begin by introducing

         12  some other people here. Other members of the

         13  Committee who are here are Martin Golden, from

         14  Brooklyn. Victor Robles, our Majority Whip also from

         15  Brooklyn. And staff who it would be good for you to

         16  know are, Ted Becker, who is the new counsel to this

         17  Committee. It is his first meeting as the new

         18  counsel to this Committee. Jim Caras is in the back,

         19  still we are lucky to have him. He is a lawyer but

         20  this is on interim loan, just shortly, Latania

         21  Scott, who I think primarily helped prepare the

         22  questions for this and did the analysis in the

         23  Finance Division. Also Roberto Ragone, who is policy

         24  analyst. Mark Young is the assistant director of our

         25  Finance Division in charge of Public Safety matters,
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          2  and Bob Enfato is a lawyer on my own staff.

          3                 Welcome, Commissioner. And I look

          4  forward to your testimony.

          5                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Thank you,

          6  Chairman Leffler.

          7                 Before I start I would like to

          8  introduce the members of my staff here at the table

          9  with me.

         10                 To my far right is Deputy

         11  Commissioner Lou Gelamino, who has been with us for

         12  several years.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. Needs no

         14  introduction, we think very well of him.

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right, needs no

         16  introduction.

         17                 To my immediate right is Jan English,

         18  who has also been part of the City for a very long

         19  time, and is a welcome partner in the running of the

         20  Department of Probation.

         21                 To my left is Millie Biaz O'Toole,

         22  Deputy Commissioner for Administration. And I just

         23  want to tell you that I couldn't be happier with the

         24  team of individuals that comprise my executive team.

         25  These are all tremendously committed individuals who
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          2  have been around government most of their lives and

          3  the City of New York is sort of blessed for having

          4  them as part of their management teams, and I am

          5  very proud that they are part of my team.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is nice of

          7  you to say. And since I think that you are a

          8  particularly good Commissioner and particularly good

          9  for this job, then you are appreciated by somebody

         10  who I respect a lot.

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 Good morning, Mr. Chairman. I am

         14  pleased to be here this morning, although like other

         15  City agencies, we have been asked to do some

         16  belt-tightening, we continue to move forward in the

         17  number of critical areas. In fact, I believe that we

         18  are better prepared today to provide for public

         19  safety than at any time in the history of this

         20  agency.

         21                 As you know, in October of '97, we

         22  launched Operation Nightwatch in which Probation

         23  Officers are teamed up with New York City Police

         24  Department officers to conduct home visits and

         25  surveillance of high risk probationers in the
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          2  community in which they live in.

          3                 Since its inception, Operation

          4  Nightwatch teams have conducted more than 40,000

          5  field operations, including more than 17,000 curfew

          6  checks on juveniles and young adults. These

          7  operations have resulted in the arrests of 12,070

          8  adults and 52 juveniles.

          9                 Recently we equipped both our

         10  Nightwatch teams and our Electronic Monitoring

         11  Programs with iron scanners that enable them to

         12  conduct non-invasive drug tests in the course of the

         13  home visits.

         14                 The iron scanners can detect even

         15  microscopic traces of illegal drugs on probationers'

         16  clothing. Using this technology, we can uncover any

         17  contact with illegal drugs, even in cases where the

         18  offender may be selling and not using drugs.

         19                 Our goal is simple, we want to

         20  identify those offenders who are not complying with

         21  the conditions of their probation sentence and when

         22  necessary remove them from the community board when

         23  they commit new crimes.

         24                 This month, together with the Office

         25  of the Kings County District Attorney, we will
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          2  launch a pilot program to test relatively new

          3  technology that we believe will significantly

          4  improve the ability to provide for the safety of

          5  victims of domestic violence.

          6                 The Juris Monitor Program will target

          7  domestic violence offenders deemed appropriate for

          8  community supervision by the District Attorney.

          9                 Each offender in the program will

         10  wear an electronic ankle bracelet and a monitor will

         11  be placed in the home of the victim. If the offender

         12  comes within a predetermined distance of the

         13  victim's home, the monitor will set off an audible

         14  alarm within the home and will notify the monitoring

         15  company and police and Probation officers will

         16  immediately be dispatched to the residence.

         17                 Probationers who violate an order of

         18  protection, or attempt to defeat the Juris Monitor

         19  system, will be dealt with quickly.

         20                 Probationers who successfully

         21  complete the Juris Monitor Program will be

         22  transferred to our Intensive Supervision Program.

         23                 Of course tough enforcement is only

         24  one side of the coin. Research done by the National

         25  Institute of drug abuse shows that more than 80
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          2  percent of the adults arrested in New York City have

          3  a drug abuse problem. Research also shows that

          4  probationers who complete a drug treatment program

          5  are far less likely to recidivate.

          6                 In the coming months we will

          7  intensify our efforts to identify and provide

          8  treatment for probationers with drug abuse problems.

          9                 So, at that end, this spring we will

         10  begin a pilot of universal drug testing for all

         11  adult offenders sentenced to probation in Kings

         12  County. At present we test when drug treatment is

         13  ordered by the Court as a condition of probation,

         14  when there is an underlying drug charge, when an

         15  offender is at high risk for violent recidivism or

         16  when a Probation Officer believes that an offender

         17  is abusing drugs.

         18                 In addition, we test all probationers

         19  with community service conditions, virtually all

         20  probationers in our job programs, our Electronic

         21  Monitoring Program and Intensive Supervision

         22  Program.

         23                 Through this program we hope to

         24  significantly reduce a recidivism in the borough by

         25  getting every probationer with a drug problem into
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          2  treatment, and in compliance with the treatment will

          3  be closely monitored.

          4                 The pilot program will also produce a

          5  reliable information gathering to the extent of the

          6  nature of the drug problem in the Probation

          7  population, and will identify what research will be

          8  needed to expand a universal testing Citywide.

          9                 We are currently working to define an

         10  outcome-based standard to be used in future services

         11  contracts, particularly in the employment counseling

         12  and drug treatment.

         13                 It is not enough that a program

         14  sounds good on paper, vendors must be held

         15  accountable for producing measurable results.

         16                 We have introduced a

         17  performance-based standard in our recent contract

         18  with South Forty, a non-profit organization which

         19  provides employment-related services to

         20  ex-offenders. Likewise, we are currently analyzing

         21  three years of history of our drug and alcohol

         22  treatment contracts to identify variables leading to

         23  program success.

         24                 In a joint project with the Human

         25  Resources Administration, we will identify those
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          2  individuals under Probation supervision who are also

          3  receiving services funded by HRA.

          4                 Through joint case management, we

          5  hope to improve the delivery of services and

          6  eliminate duplicate or conflicting services. Jointly

          7  held cases will be managed by the Probation Officers

          8  who will monitor compliance with directions to

          9  participate in drug treatment, psychiatric

         10  counseling, educational programming and workfare.

         11                 Through this linkage with HRA, we are

         12  hopeful that we will be able to take advantage of

         13  federal funding for services provided to this

         14  population saving city funds.

         15                 We are intensifying our efforts to

         16  prepare probationers to become self-sufficient

         17  through our Nova Ancora Program.

         18                 As I noted earlier, the Department's

         19  contract with South Forty is now in place and we are

         20  ready to begin referring appropriate probationers to

         21  the program, where they will be given, where they

         22  will be given vocational and life skills training

         23  and assistance in securing permanent employment.

         24  During the first six months of this pilot project,

         25  we expect to make 144 referrals.
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          2                 In our Pre-Employment Program, Nova

          3  Ancora has teamed up with the Episcopalian Social

          4  Services and STRIVE, a nationally recognized

          5  employment program, to provide life skills and job

          6  skills training.

          7                 Recognizing that many probationers

          8  have never held a real job, the first objective of

          9  this program is to bring probationers to the point

         10  where they are ready to enter the job market.

         11                 During the past year, our Community

         12  Service Unit provided extensive assistance in three

         13  disaster relief campaigns. Our crews spent thousands

         14  of hours at Randall's Island packing tons of

         15  clothing and food donated to help the victims of

         16  Hurricane Georges and Hurricane Mitch. These crews

         17  are currently working at the Brooklyn Armory to

         18  prepare supplies being sent to the victims of the

         19  recent earthquake in Columbia.

         20                 In April, our Family Court Services

         21  will launch the first J-SAVD programs in Manhattan

         22  and Brooklyn. J-SAVD will offer a strategy of early

         23  intervention in the lives of PINS cases and first

         24  offenders arrested for low-level crimes.

         25                 At the same time, it will include a
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          2  comprehensive case-management plan for our high-risk

          3  juvenile population.

          4                 Through a unified approach, our goal

          5  will be to get these youth the services they need,

          6  including drug treatment, mental health counseling

          7  and educational service. In this way, we hope to

          8  improve the chances that they will make a successful

          9  transition to a law-abiding life.

         10                 I am pleased to report that Linden

         11  House has been named the State's Aftercare Site of

         12  the Year by the Independent Living Life Skills

         13  Program.

         14                 Linden House provides intense

         15  supervision, and educational services and curfew

         16  enforcement for youth returning to their Brooklyn

         17  homes after a period of placement in a state-run

         18  facility. Linden House is funded through a contract

         19  with the State Office of Families and Children's

         20  Services.

         21                 We will be carefully monitoring the

         22  impact of the Interim Supervision law enacted last

         23  year. This law allows judges to place convicted

         24  offenders under community supervision for up to one

         25  year before sentencing.
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          2                 This enables a judge to test offender

          3  compliance with community supervision before the

          4  actual imposition of sentence.

          5                 A report prepared by Probation will

          6  assist the judge in deciding whether or not a

          7  defendant is appropriate for probation.

          8                 In the first year of this law, we

          9  handled less than 100 interim supervision cases.

         10  Should that number increase dramatically, we will

         11  need to seek additional funding. At the moment, it

         12  remains an unfunded mandate.

         13                 I will be happy now to answer any

         14  questions you may have regarding the Department of

         15  Probation's preliminary budget.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         17  much, Commissioner.

         18                 There are I think 15 different

         19  agencies that we have jurisdiction over, the Public

         20  Safety Committee, and I have chaired another

         21  committee here in the Council, Environmental

         22  Protection and Sanitation, I think your agency is an

         23  under-appreciated agency. For $75 million or so you

         24  do an awful lot of stuff and it is important to the

         25  lives of people and the future lives of people.
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          2                 This is a year where we are rolling

          3  over one and a half billion dollars into the next --

          4  a surplus into the next fiscal year, and you know,

          5  agencies' budgets by and large are going up and your

          6  budget, on average, your budget is going down. Your

          7  modified rehab is $79.7 million and your Fiscal 2000

          8  is $74.5, so it's a change of downward, and that is

          9  sort of a framework for the individual items that I

         10  am going to ask, you know, these are all parts of

         11  the cut. And, you know, I think the Council has put

         12  its money where its mouth is in terms of supporting

         13  your agency to the Council's credit. I am not a

         14  Council chauvinist, I said that on the floor of the

         15  Council, but I believe in giving credit where credit

         16  is due, and in an area -- I mean, where there is not

         17  a lot of political appeal in a district like mine,

         18  no one has ever in 22 years asked me to do more for

         19  Probation, not one person, and I think that the

         20  staff people here, and others who have brought this

         21  to our attention and developed it and pushed for it,

         22  sort of had hopes that you would be doing certain

         23  things that seemingly are not being done. Like this

         24  Smith Bell Day Treatment Program, where you proposed

         25  the elimination, we restored funding in, let's see,
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          2  the amount of -- well, in any case, in the next

          3  fiscal year you are proposing to save over a million

          4  dollars, seven-hundred and eleven-thousand in City

          5  funds, by eliminating this program.

          6                 First, we restored funding in the

          7  budget modification earlier this year, after

          8  restoring the funding when we passed the budget in

          9  June. My recollection was you thought well of this

         10  program, you said if we could have the money you

         11  would like to do it. Well, we gave you the money,

         12  why hasn't this been implemented?

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: First, let me say

         14  that in my original testimony back when we talked

         15  about this, I think both in the MMR and the previous

         16  budget, we talked about Smith Bell --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: And one of my

         19  concerns then was that the Smith Bell Program,

         20  although a good program, was overly rich for the

         21  number of people that we are serving. Under 100

         22  individuals were served with almost $2 million and

         23  we thought it was just a little too expensive.

         24                 Let me just say that, like every

         25  other parent, you want to do the best thing for your
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          2  son possible, so obviously you want to put the

          3  resources, but it is important that the results that

          4  come out of there, you can put a lot of money into a

          5  child and still end up with a child in jail.

          6                 I mean, I think as a responsible

          7  individual within our system, we have to manage the

          8  City's resources in the appropriate way, and we

          9  really thought in the Smith Bell area there was a

         10  problem. So, we wanted to change Smith Bell. We

         11  didn't want to get rid of it, but we wanted to

         12  change it, and we are in the process of doing that.

         13                 You asked us why we didn't put it

         14  back earlier --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Why didn't you

         16  implement the funding that we passed and then

         17  restored in the fall?

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, first of

         19  all, originally we thought that the program was

         20  going to go away, and there was a large number of

         21  staff and we thought if we didn't get this money put

         22  back, and in the final negotiation between the

         23  Council and the Mayor if this money didn't get

         24  restored, we were going to be significantly down in

         25  staff, so we held out for awhile.
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          2                 Once we realized that the money was

          3  going to be put back, we began the plans to

          4  reinstitute the Smith Bell Program and we are now

          5  ready to do that, and effectively April 1st, we are

          6  going to reinstitute Smith Bell.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Oh, so it is

          8  going to begin again on April 1st?

          9                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes, it is.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I have to tell

         12  you, it is going to be different than it was before,

         13  it is going to be focused more on domestic violence

         14  offenders, we are going to be very specific about

         15  the type of program it is, and we will be glad to

         16  share with the Council how those changes will affect

         17  this program. We will be able to serve almost double

         18  the population that we were serving before, and I

         19  think of a much more aggressive program focused

         20  directly on an issue that it is very important to

         21  you and to us which is domestic violence offenders.

         22                 So, we have refocused Smith Bell, we

         23  are ready to go. We believe if the funding continues

         24  and we can work through this process, then we will

         25  have a good program.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And yet, you are

          3  planning to begin this April 1st, but you don't have

          4  funding in the Fiscal Year 2000 budget for

          5  continuing it, so it seems anomalous.

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, you know,

          7  one of the problems that each of us have, each

          8  commissioner has, as you well know, is that as we

          9  are asked to look at our budget and make certain cut

         10  reductions, that we always have to go back and look

         11  at what is our priority and what is our base.

         12                 Our priority is our main core

         13  services, the supervision, specific supervision of

         14  the offenders, the judges need their PSI report to

         15  make their decision. There are a specific amount of

         16  individuals that we have to do that work, and if I

         17  am asked to trim down, I can only go to the

         18  programs, I have nowhere else to go, other than

         19  having a direct impact on individuals and a safety

         20  issue for the community if I don't supervise them

         21  properly.

         22                 So, the additional programs give us

         23  additional opportunities to turn lives around, but

         24  we have to protect our core services.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, I recognize

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            22

          1  DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION

          2  that, but it seems to me that what you can do is

          3  tell OMB you have credibility with the

          4  Administration over a six-year period, that this is

          5  part of your core function; is it not? I mean, you

          6  are basically supervising people who are

          7  non-violent, who have gown afoul of the law but who

          8  are redeemable, and in the long run it is actually

          9  cost effective.

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We have those

         11  discussions with OMB, and we share our mission and

         12  our goals with them, and obviously OMB shares their

         13  mission and their goals with us, and sometimes they

         14  are all not in perfect sync.

         15                 I mean, the reality is that they have

         16  a goal to make sure that the City has a balanced

         17  budget, it is part of --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But we have a

         19  surplus this year of $1.5 billion plus dollars.

         20                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I don't presume

         21  to be a budget expert but --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You don't have

         23  to be to know that this is like a drop in the ocean.

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes, but there is

         25  a gap in the outyears and the Mayor is trying to
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          2  make sure that those gaps are filled in, so there is

          3  contradicting decision making that includes the

          4  entire City and we are obviously a small part of

          5  that. We share, and I believe that budget

          6  understands the importance of these programs, I

          7  think ultimately they have to make some difficult

          8  decisions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What are you

         10  doing with the money that has not been spent, but

         11  that was originally appropriated and also restored?

         12  What exactly is happening with that money?

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, obviously

         14  we will move quickly to hire the individuals

         15  necessary to get all of these programs in place.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right, but you

         17  have accruals.

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: At the end of the

         19  year if we have accruals, they probably will roll

         20  over into the budget savings, but I don't know --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You are going to

         22  have to have accruals, because we funded it for an

         23  annual basis and you are beginning it in April at

         24  best.

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We believe we
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          2  will, but ultimately our spending across the

          3  agencywide will determine totally how much accruals

          4  we have. So, yes, there may be some accruals.

          5                 As I said to you earlier, a decision

          6  that a Commissioner has to make during budget

          7  negotiation times, is do you make sure you have

          8  enough resources to keep the people that you have in

          9  place, and if there are some cuts coming down the

         10  line, that you are not forced to make adjustments in

         11  your staff.

         12                 My decision early on was to hold. Now

         13  we are moving aggressively to hire, we have a very

         14  specific plan to hire all of the people necessary so

         15  at the end of the fiscal year we are fully staffed

         16  and ready to go.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. If we had

         18  set up a smaller unit of appropriation and just had

         19  Smith Bell funded under that unit of appropriation,

         20  then you couldn't have basically saved the money

         21  from that and used it for all of your budget balance

         22  generally; isn't that right?

         23                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is right.

         25  Maybe we should do that next time, in other words,
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          2  in the coming fiscal year.

          3                 I also submit to you that you have

          4  come and I think we have worked collaboratively to

          5  restore some, and support some programs that you

          6  believe in, but then when we do it, you don't use

          7  the money for that purpose. And since these are not

          8  the most politically appealing programs in the City

          9  to begin with, it seems to me that it is a dangerous

         10  game that you are involved in by not implementing

         11  programs that we fund.

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We have tried to

         13  implement the programs as quickly as possible. For

         14  instance, the South Forty Program was one of the

         15  programs that was funded as part of the negotiation

         16  with the Council, and that program is already up and

         17  running. You know, there are other programs within

         18  the budget that we move quickly. The Smith Bell was

         19  troublesome because I had some problems with the way

         20  the program was running, and there were some

         21  decisions that I had to make to make the changes

         22  necessary.

         23                 Now, I admit that we should have

         24  moved probably faster to incorporate the Smith Bell

         25  Program back, you know, and I take responsibility
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          2  for that, but ultimately the goal is to have a much

          3  better program, a program that will serve the

          4  probationers that we are responsible for long into

          5  the future, and we can multiply that number

          6  dramatically and make a much better impact on the

          7  community.

          8                 So, yes, you make some decisions,

          9  some of them take you a little longer to work on, my

         10  staff worked on the changes. But they are also

         11  working on several other projects, including Y2K.

         12  So, I mean, again, you have to balance your

         13  priorities and try to get this done. We are ready. I

         14  think that you are going to find that the new Smith

         15  Bell Program will be a much better program.

         16                 Now, mind you, we have another -- as

         17  I said to you before, we have another round of

         18  decisions of make about what our budget will look

         19  like at the end of this year, and if we have the

         20  resources, then we will have the programs. If we

         21  don't have the resources, then I have to make

         22  decisions over which ones I have to let go.

         23                 This is a new program, it is going to

         24  be an experimental program, so if I have to compete

         25  that one against, you know, making sure that
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          2  supervision is still run properly, that we do all of

          3  the things that we have been successful with

          4  Nightwatch, in order to do all of those things, I

          5  have to make a call on which ones I keep and which

          6  ones I don't.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes. Well, I

          8  think we have made it too easy for you by not having

          9  a separate unit of appropriation. I think we should

         10  do that so that you can't just juggle the money that

         11  we provide and balance your budget generally.

         12                 Do you have statistics with respect

         13  to success, recidivism of people who are in the

         14  Smith Bell Program?

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We did some

         16  research on the program and the numbers were low.

         17  They were in the less --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Small recidivism

         19  rate.

         20                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Relatively

         22  speaking.

         23                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: No, no, the other

         24  way around. I think the recidivism was high. For the

         25  amount of resources we have put into it, after you
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          2  test it out for a couple of years, the kids were

          3  going back, and we just found that the program, as

          4  intense as it was, wasn't giving us the results that

          5  we wanted, and you know, when you spend that much

          6  resource, you know, we have a small budget for

          7  60,000, almost 70,000 probationers, so we have to be

          8  careful where we spend our money and we can't waste

          9  money, and in the Smith Bell area we were concerned.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         11                 And could you just tell us, and then

         12  I will open it for anyone else, like Victor who has

         13  a question; why are you going over and just having

         14  to program serve probationers who have engaged in

         15  domestic violence?

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: This is one of

         17  the areas that obviously there is a tremendous

         18  amount of interest, there is concerns and the

         19  victims' groups have met with us and talked to us

         20  about this area. We have had meetings with judges

         21  throughout the different boroughs where they said we

         22  want to really focus on this population. There

         23  obviously have been some horrendous cases where

         24  people have been, obviously victims have been killed

         25  or maimed, by individuals who were either under
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          2  order of protection or on some kind of probation

          3  supervision, and we really, really felt that this is

          4  an area that we could have a specific impact. We

          5  have a fairly large number of those individuals on

          6  probation and I think it is an area that can be

          7  targeted. The judges were interested in it and we

          8  were interested in it. The original Smith Bell

          9  program was focused on individuals who were having a

         10  problem and looked like they were going to be

         11  violated. So, obviously when we look at the

         12  recidivism, those because they were already in

         13  trouble, it was very hard to turn them around.

         14                 But those violations could have been

         15  in drug areas and other areas, these are very

         16  specific. When these people violate there is a

         17  victim. When a domestic violence individual goes

         18  back, the crimes that he commits is a violent crime,

         19  there is no doubt. It is not buying drugs or getting

         20  high, it is going and hurting somebody who is an

         21  innocent bystander, usually their family member or

         22  their children.

         23                 So, I think it is a critical area and

         24  I think it is the right approach.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            30

          1  DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION

          2                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It also allows us

          3  to do other things with the YOs and focusing on them

          4  too. So, the individuals said that we could move

          5  some people around to do some work with the YOs. So,

          6  this gives us a lot more flexibility.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We have also

          8  been joined by, going from left to further left, a

          9  member of the Committee Stanley Michels, Bill

         10  Perkins, and Juanita Watkins who chairs the

         11  Subcommittee.

         12                 Councilman Robles, you had a question

         13  on this program?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Well, Mr.

         15  Chairman, I have a problem, and again, I have been

         16  sitting and listening to these hearings, and Fiscal

         17  Year 2000 but then you look at the current year, so

         18  let me just make sure I understand.

         19                 Because I remember in previous years,

         20  this program is a program that this agency, or

         21  whoever proposed the budget consistently pulled it

         22  out of the budget, and this Council and this

         23  Committee, because through hearings, and I heard you

         24  say and you asked the Commissioner, that in previous

         25  hearings did he support the program, and I heard
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          2  that the answer was yes.

          3                 Now, there were problems with the

          4  program.

          5                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I am sorry,

          6  Councilman Robles, but that is not what I said.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: What did you

          8  say, sir?

          9                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I said that last

         10  year, during the MMR hearings I was very specific

         11  that the Smith Bell Program had some problems and we

         12  were looking at redefining the roles of Smith Bell.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Fine. But in

         14  the meantime, between '98, Fiscal Year, which is

         15  when we started putting money in, that we are now

         16  having hearings on the Fiscal Year 2000, from '98 to

         17  the present, regardless, and there has been hearings

         18  before -- I mean, I have no problems with

         19  restructure -- my question is: Does this program

         20  serve a purpose, and I thought I heard with changes

         21  the answer was yes.

         22                 Now, I may be wrong.

         23                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: No, that is true.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Fine.

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: With the changes
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          2  they will, that is what we are proposing.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Fine.

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Fine. But you are

          5  saying, however, and mind you, again I want to point

          6  out, that this started in '98 fiscal year. And for a

          7  whole fiscal year no money was spent. And if I

          8  remember correctly --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, in Fiscal

         10  Year '99 no money has been spent. In '98 the program

         11  existed.

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right. We are

         13  talking about fiscal '99.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: '99. In Fiscal

         15  Year '98, when the money was in place, during the

         16  fiscal year was there any attempt to pull out the

         17  money from this program? During budget

         18  modifications.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes, there has

         20  been proposals to remove the program.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Oh, oh, oh,

         22  oh. That is in '98. And we, because we hear that

         23  there is a need, we restored it in the so-called

         24  budget modification, which is supposed to be an

         25  agreement between the Administration and this
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          2  Council.

          3                 Now we move to Fiscal Year '99, Mr.

          4  Chairman, and once again, it is proposed, and it was

          5  eliminated and we do it again, and we are now going

          6  into the second budget mod, of which I don't see it

          7  here, so it means that when we passed the budget mod

          8  in November, since no money was spent because of the

          9  division within the ranks, this money was not pulled

         10  out in the budget mod in November.

         11                 There is a budget mod, and let me

         12  finish, I want to be sure I understand, because it

         13  is a waste of time, Mr. Chairman, to keep putting

         14  money back in and then all of a sudden somebody

         15  decides, with all due respect, not the agency, but

         16  OMB, and I must tell you, when OMB has a favorite

         17  project they want, that they don't worry about

         18  deficits for the outer years. They go ahead and do

         19  it.

         20                 And my problem is, that you are

         21  right, Mr. Chairman, here is an agency in a

         22  population, that doesn't have the lobbyists, that

         23  doesn't have the do-gooders, that doesn't have the

         24  kind of momentum that keeps bringing to the

         25  attention of the public. My concern, Mr. Chairman
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          2  is, and, again, the Commissioner said that they are

          3  about to implement the program on April 1st, I

          4  thought I heard you say that?

          5                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That's correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: My concern is,

          7  there was a Council initiative --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Was there any

         10  discussion with you, sir, and this Committee, in

         11  terms of addressing how this program will be

         12  altered, and see whether we would want to continue

         13  after the alteration in funding this program?

         14                 So, those are questions, Mr.

         15  Chairman, and in fairness to me, as a member of this

         16  Committee, I think that as we move ahead, you know,

         17  what sounds good, what looked good then may not be,

         18  I may not want to continue, with all due respect,

         19  putting money in the budget.

         20                 I believe this was done at hearings

         21  of this Committee, during budget time --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It was.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Because we

         24  believed that there was a need to put the money in.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And a good
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          2  program, basically, despite its problems, that it

          3  had potential.

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And that it

          6  would help people live a decent life who otherwise

          7  would really be at risk, if not worse.

          8                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Let me clarify a

          9  couple of things.

         10                 Number one is, the program ran the

         11  first three months of the fiscal year. It didn't end

         12  until September. I had some decisions to make in

         13  September, since there were some discussions going

         14  on between the Council and the Mayor's Office about

         15  the budget, and I had to make some decisions about

         16  whether I would continue that program or not. I made

         17  a decision that there was a time right now to stop

         18  the program, make the changes and redo it in a way

         19  that would fit more of the needs. We stopped. We

         20  went through the process. So, it wasn't gone for the

         21  whole Fiscal Year, it was only gone -- it will be

         22  gone for about six months, about half the year of

         23  the program.

         24                 And I know this is difficult, but in

         25  reinventing and redoing programs like this, that may
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          2  look like a long time but then it may not. I mean,

          3  you have to go through a whole new process of

          4  evaluation, in the program and decide what is best

          5  fit, do some analysis of your own population, where

          6  would this program best fit.

          7                 Now, I promised that I would share

          8  with you what our proposal is, so you can see the

          9  new Smith Bell program, and I will, and I think that

         10  you will find it might be a much better program than

         11  it was.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Is the analyst

         13  here from OMB?

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I don't know.

         15                 MR. LAMB: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You are here.

         17  Why don't you come up also.

         18                 If I just might say, you know, we

         19  have to move on, we have other things to do, but you

         20  know, apparently you are the sort of, you know, gray

         21  eminence behind what has happened here, and I really

         22  think that pulling out a million dollars here, in

         23  order to give us, you know, some support for the

         24  out-year budget, because the next year budget is in

         25  balance, so we are talking about the out-year
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          2  budget, you know, I think is highly questionable at

          3  best. And I think you undermine a good working

          4  relationship with the Council that we try to

          5  cultivate in this area, for example, by basically

          6  disregarding what we have done. I think Councilman

          7  Robles hits the nail on the head, you know, better

          8  than I do, because I try to -- you know, I think we

          9  would like to prevent the recurrence of this again.

         10                 I mean, we have supported this

         11  program for a number of years and if you take it out

         12  again, and we end up with the same thing again where

         13  the program is non-functional for six months, I

         14  think it undermines what we try to do generally in

         15  the Department of Probation. I am going to

         16  recommend, among other things, that we try to pin

         17  this down in one unit of appropriation, because I

         18  think that basically you take money for one program

         19  and you use it for budget balance generally. It is

         20  clearly a perversion of our intent. It really is.

         21                 I mean, we were seeking to keep this

         22  program going. We had extensive hearings on it, I

         23  think you were at the hearings last year, right?

         24                 MR. LAMB: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. So, I
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          2  mean, you know, if you want money added for the

          3  Probation Department generally, in a year when you

          4  have a $1.5 billion surplus, I think you could have

          5  made your case for that without doing it this way.

          6                 Maybe we could move on. I don't want

          7  to beat a dead horse.

          8                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Your Juvenile

         10  Alternative to Court Program also I believe is

         11  proposed for elimination; is that right?

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That's right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What has been

         14  your experience with this program, in terms of

         15  effect on recidivism?

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That is a good

         17  program, and I don't think we have had any major

         18  particular problems with it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So, why propose

         20  its elimination?

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Again, it comes

         22  down to -- you know, I have explained this before to

         23  the Council this way: If I have a salary and I have

         24  a checkbook and I don't have enough money --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, I get your
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          2  point. It is the same as what you said before.

          3                 The gentleman from OMB, why don't you

          4  identify yourself for the record, since we don't

          5  have a stenographer anymore.

          6                 MR. LAMB: Felix Lamb, Office of

          7  Management and Budget.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Mr. Lamb, so

          9  much of this is guided by what you are basically

         10  giving the Department.

         11                 You are giving the Department,

         12  according to our analysts, $74.5 million in Fiscal

         13  Year 2000, where they have a modified budget of

         14  $79.7 million in the current year, which is a 1.3

         15  percent overall reduction.

         16                 At a time when we are running a

         17  budget surplus of over $1.5 billion, and we are

         18  rolling this over, why are you so penny pinching

         19  with the Department of Probation? Aren't you sort of

         20  taking advantage of an important but non-vocal

         21  constituency?

         22                 MR. LAMB: No, I don't think we are

         23  taking advantage. In fact, the comparison that you

         24  are making between Fiscal Year '99 and Fiscal Year

         25  2000 doesn't include the fact that a lot of grants
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          2  get added to the budget when the next fiscal year

          3  becomes the current year. So what you are seeing is

          4  a lot of those grant programs dropping out and then

          5  they will be restored once those new contracts will

          6  be entered into.

          7                 In fact, in terms of City funds the

          8  Department of Probation's budget actually increases

          9  by $2 million because of other new needs that we

         10  funded in the agency.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How can that be

         12  if the total budget is going down by over $5 million

         13  --

         14                 MR. LAMB: That's right, because there

         15  are approximately between $4 million and $5 million

         16  of grants that get added to the budget from year to

         17  year, and in terms of City tax levy funding, we

         18  funded new needs for increments for Probation

         19  officers, and we funded a new needs for new

         20  headquarters for the agency. So, those things need

         21  to be considered as well.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The overall

         23  funding is going down. It is going down by $5

         24  million on $75 million.

         25                 I mean, you know, what you say --
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          2                 MR. LAMB: Some programs were

          3  eliminated and some resources were taken out and

          4  other resources were added to the Department's

          5  budget. And the net effect of all of those things --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, why did

          7  you make the basic decision of, in gross, reducing

          8  the budget by 1.3 percent? Is it because you expect

          9  that there will be grants in the middle of the year;

         10  is that it?

         11                 MR. LAMB: That's right. That is part

         12  of the reason, sure. Grants will be restored --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But isn't there

         14  a cost of shutting down these programs for many

         15  months?

         16                 I mean, we saw what happened with

         17  Smith Bell, now you are proposing to do the same

         18  thing with the Juvenile Alternative to Court. Why

         19  not keep the programs running and then when you get

         20  the grants, using the grant money to keep these

         21  programs?

         22                 MR. LAMB: Shutting down the Smith

         23  Bell Program in City Fiscal Year '99 was not a

         24  budget decision by our office, I think that was a

         25  management decision.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: They say they

          3  have made the decision simply because they couldn't

          4  keep the agency going with all of the other programs

          5  --

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Again, Chairman

          7  Leffler, I have to -- you know, OMB gets their

          8  credit for whatever they do, but that was not the

          9  only reason, and I explained that last time an this

         10  time, that the Smith Bell Program needed some

         11  changes and the shut down was to make those

         12  appropriate changes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But even there,

         14  you know, with all respect, it seems to me you can

         15  make changes on the fly, as they say. I mean, it is

         16  not as though you didn't know this last spring when

         17  you were here. So, if you wanted to keep the program

         18  going while changing its composition of client

         19  population service and the like --

         20                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It is much more

         21  complex. In the training of the type of Probation

         22  Officers who are needed to do one type at Smith Bell

         23  and another is different.

         24                 The area we are going to now is very

         25  client specific to domestic violence. The officers
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          2  who were assigned to Smith Bell before were dealing

          3  with juvenile and young adults, drug abuse and in

          4  violent tendencies.

          5                 The individuals that are going to be

          6  dealt with in this population are domestic violence.

          7                 So, we had retrained staff. The staff

          8  is going to be a different type of staff than it was

          9  before, so it involves some significant changes to

         10  be able to make that fit.

         11                 So, with all due respect, and I

         12  understand, and I understand the fact of what you

         13  are saying, but we were trying to make an

         14  administrative decision here that, you know, was

         15  done in cooperation with what was going on in the

         16  budget.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In your Juvenile

         18  Alternative to Court Program, there were 1,424

         19  participants served in Fiscal Year 1998; what will

         20  happen to all of the participants if the program is

         21  eliminated as proposed for Fiscal Year 2000?

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: They will go into

         23  our regular supervision caseloads that the Probation

         24  Officers have within the agency.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And what effect
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          2  do you think that will have?

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, we will

          4  work as hard as we can to make the impact as little

          5  as possible. Now, these are programs very specific

          6  to try to divert these individuals, you know, divert

          7  them from committing crimes, and we will use our

          8  other supervision tools to try to do that.

          9                 I mean, at this point I don't have a

         10  specific answer for that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: They will stay

         12  on probation? They are not going to be put in some

         13  sort of institution?

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Not necessarily,

         15  no.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Not necessarily.

         17  But maybe.

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: The judges

         19  ultimately make the decision. On each one of these

         20  cases they make the determination, depending on the

         21  programs and services available. I am not going to

         22  tell you that some judge may determine that they

         23  want to do something else, but the actual

         24  supervision of those individuals will go to the

         25  Probation Officers who are assigned, we will
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          2  continue to work, you know, using our resources.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Who has

          4  questions?

          5                 Councilman Michels.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand

          7  that we are going to eliminate some $260,000 from a

          8  program you are very proud of, and namely, the South

          9  Forty, that part of the Nova Ancora Program that is

         10  called the South Forty.

         11                 In your opening statement you say how

         12  wonderful it is, and you are about to make 144

         13  referrals, but now I understand that the 260,000

         14  that you are eliminating is the South Forty money.

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, first of

         16  all, the South Forty money was new money. It is a

         17  new program, it has never been done before. This is

         18  the first time we are doing it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But you

         20  mention it on page six of your --

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We mentioned we

         22  are starting it. It was funded by the Council last

         23  year as part of the negotiation, and we are in the

         24  middle of implementing --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You like the
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          2  idea.

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, we like the

          4  idea and the concept, but ultimately I have to keep

          5  going back to my original statement, if you have a

          6  limited budget, and you have to make decisions about

          7  where you put your priorities, and you have a new

          8  program that is coming on brand new, you know, you

          9  are going to not do that and continue to do the work

         10  that you have to do.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand

         12  that. But how can you say that during the first six

         13  months of the project we expect to make 144

         14  referrals? I mean, you are going to make referrals

         15  to a program that is not going to exist?

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, it is going

         17  to exist from now until the end of the Fiscal Year.

         18  At that time we will have to make that

         19  determination, depending on what the final budget

         20  decisions are.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Why don't you

         22  do something else? I mean, why waste all of these

         23  resources?

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: The issues --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The issue is
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          2  that you are depending on us to put the money back

          3  in.

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I wouldn't say

          5  that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Of course you

          7  are. We understand that. You understand that and we

          8  understand that.

          9                 Do you want us to put the money back

         10  in? Do you like the idea of the program?

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: The program is a

         12  good program, and the determination, the final

         13  determination on what the budget for the Department

         14  of Probation will be done between you and the Mayor

         15  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay. Would

         17  you recommend to the Mayor that we fund this

         18  program?

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I would say this

         20  is a good program and if the funds are available for

         21  the City to fund the program, this would be a good

         22  program to fund.

         23                 However, if I had to make a

         24  determination in a budget decision and priorities,

         25  you know, I made the determination that this would
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          2  not be at the top of my priorities. It doesn't make

          3  the program a bad program, it just says that if you

          4  have to cut your budget, and if you have a parameter

          5  to work in, this particular program fits outside of

          6  that parameter.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: For instance,

          8  if it came to your salary and Nova Ancora, we would

          9  understand that.

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I am sorry, I

         11  didn't hear that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Then we have got

         13  priorities.

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: My salary is

         15  determined by you and the Mayor, so I --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand.

         17  I am kidding around with you. Because I know you are

         18  doing a very good job and I am very pleased with the

         19  way you are doing it.

         20                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But let me

         23  ask you this, though: Getting back to Nova Ancora,

         24  the South Forty is just one aspect of it, you have

         25  several other aspects, totally how many other
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          2  individuals are under the Nova Ancora Program at

          3  this particular point? Where are we? What is the

          4  number on that?

          5                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Just so you know,

          6  Nova Ancora is an internal process that we use to

          7  place individuals in employment programs.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand

          9  that. But how many people have you replaced in the

         10  last fiscal year?

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I will ask our

         12  expert on the Nova Ancora to answer that question.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: All right.

         14                 So, people who don't understand, this

         15  is a program to take people to take people who are

         16  on probation and trying to get them jobs.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELAMINO: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Lou, identify

         19  yourself for the record, please.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Speak into

         21  the mic.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELAMINO: Louis

         23  Michael Gelamino, Deputy Commissioner for Law and

         24  Employment Services and Special Programs.

         25                 Last Fiscal Year we referred over
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          2  1,200 probationers for vocational training and

          3  employment, through our many resources, South Forty,

          4  CEO and Wildcat being just three of the many

          5  resources that we have put into place, and most of

          6  the resources that we have put into place are

          7  without any charge to the agency or to the City, the

          8  resources that were already out there, we have

          9  pounded the pavement and linked with these

         10  resources, to make these referrals for vocational

         11  training and employment.

         12                 But in response to your question,

         13  Councilman, the last Fiscal Year we referred over

         14  1,200 --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What are you

         16  anticipating this Fiscal Year?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELAMINO: Excuse

         18  me?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What do you

         20  anticipate, what are your referrals do you

         21  anticipate for this coming fiscal year?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELAMINO: Yes,

         23  this fiscal year --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: For '99.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GELAMINO: This
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          2  fiscal year we are anticipating 1,250, and the

          3  reason why it is not a little higher is because one

          4  of the Probation Officers in the program was

          5  replaced and we just replaced that Probation Officer

          6  recently with another Probation Officer.

          7                 But we are projecting 1,250 and there

          8  are many programs that are very creative that we are

          9  putting into place. The Commissioner mentioned the

         10  Episcopal Social Service Program, which is very

         11  creative, very interesting. This is with the Trinity

         12  Church and it is a two-day intensive in-house life

         13  skills program that we are doing with grant money,

         14  not with any City money at all, and we just spoke

         15  with Athletes in Action and we hopefully going to

         16  get them on board, professional athletes, to work in

         17  this program. And I don't want to go into too much

         18  detail --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Commissioner,

         20  can I reliably say with your acquiescence or

         21  affirmative statement, that as far as eliminating

         22  recidivism among your probationers, that these

         23  programs are your best programs?

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: They are

         25  excellent programs. They are the only programs we
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          2  have, so they are obviously our best programs.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But I am

          4  comparing them to other programs with respect to

          5  recidivism. What do the studies show?

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, every part

          7  of the job that we do, from the supervision to the

          8  monitoring, to the counseling, to the job training,

          9  all of them, to community services, all impact on

         10  recidivism. You keep people --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand,

         12  but what I am trying to -- bear with me, and try to

         13  reason with me.

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You have some

         16  programs, you have the Nova Ancora Program, which

         17  has been the rationale, something that I have been,

         18  as you know, involved in for many years. I want to

         19  know still whether there is justification to keep

         20  this program.

         21                 Your studies of the people who are

         22  involved in this program show what percentage of

         23  recidivism of the people who have gone through the

         24  program?

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We have done an
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          2  internal study that is not as scientific as I would

          3  like it to be and we are going to do some more

          4  research, that shows there is a marginal difference

          5  between individuals who are not in the program of

          6  people that are. So, there is an increase, a

          7  specific increase, I believe it is somewhere in the

          8  20 percentile range.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What does

         10  that mean?

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It means that

         12  there is a 20 percentile difference in people who

         13  are --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In other

         15  words, people who are in this program --

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Employed, right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: -- Have a 20

         18  percent chance less of recidivism.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is

         21  important, isn't it?

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Oh, absolutely. I

         23  didn't say it is not important.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, we

         25  understand that the people on Probation who are
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          2  unemployed have a skill and that skill is time, that

          3  is why they are on Probation.

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We do everything

          5  possible.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What we are

          7  trying to do is to have them develop another skill,

          8  which is of employment.

          9                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I agree. We don't

         10  disagree.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I know we

         12  don't disagree. But do you think we are putting

         13  enough resources in this program where we can show

         14  that we have reduced recidivism by 20 percent, which

         15  to me is a substantial reduction, don't you think we

         16  should be putting more money in?

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Again, you know,

         18  ideally if the situation permitted, yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How many

         20  probationers do you have?

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: How many do we

         22  have? Somewhere in the neighborhood of 70,000 adults

         23  and minors.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And all we

         25  are helping is about 1,200, 1,250 a year. As the
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          2  Chair would say, it's a drop in the ocean.

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: As I stated on

          4  other occasions, as we move through the process

          5  there are people who are self-employed, there are

          6  people who are on drug treatment, there are people

          7  that are in other services, so not every probationer

          8  that we have, some are on violation status, not

          9  every probationer that we have is job-ready.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What

         11  percentage of 70,000 is 1,200?

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I don't know,

         13  probably about --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Two percent.

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: What?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER:

         17  Seventy-thousand, 1,200, it is like one on 70, two

         18  percent.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am sure

         20  there are more people out there who would like to go

         21  into a program like this.

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Again, I think

         23  you failed to hear what I --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I heard you

         25  very clearly. There are other people who are not
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          2  ready, or who don't need this program.

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Or there are

          4  people who are employed on their own.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Sure. But you

          6  are going to tell me that they are on more than

          7  1,250, 1,200, they aren't maybe more like 5,000,

          8  6,000 people who can take advantage of this program

          9  out of 70,000 people?

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: There probably

         11  are, but there also are within that population are

         12  people with drug problems and we have them in

         13  treatment programs --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right.

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: There are people

         16  who are in other areas, mental health problems --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are

         18  trying to make them employment ready.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We are a city

         21  in a state where we have more people in jail than

         22  probably in any historical period ever, and we are

         23  trying to stop people from going to jail, we want to

         24  eliminate the -- one of the biggest catalyst

         25  problems we have in this state is building jails.
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          2  And one of the missions, besides the reporting you

          3  have to judges on probation reports and having them

          4  report to you, is to try to keep people out of jail,

          5  I would hope.

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And this to

          8  me is probably your best weapon to keep people out

          9  of jail. Do you have a better weapon to keep people

         10  out of jail than this program, to make them

         11  productive citizens?

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I think we have

         13  several programs that are all comparable, helpful in

         14  keeping people out of jail, Nova Ancora, and the

         15  process we used in Nova Ancora to do that is one of

         16  them.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, well,

         18  this makes them productive.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Absolutely.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Maybe you can

         21  cure their drug problems, maybe, you can stop them

         22  from, prevent them from domestic violence, but they

         23  have to have a job.

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We don't

         25  disagree.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: All right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

          4  Councilman Michels. Well said. I think it is shared

          5  by many of us.

          6                 Councilman Victor Robles.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman.

          9                 Let me go back to this Smith Bell Day

         10  Treatment Program, and the implementation which is

         11  April 1, and the restructuring, or at least the

         12  program now as you restructured it will meet the

         13  criterias that you as the lead administrator of the

         14  agency believes then it can function; is that

         15  correct?

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: That's fair to

         18  say, sir?

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, what we are

         20  planning, we won't know until we test after the

         21  program runs.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: But we will

         23  have something as of April 1 that will somehow

         24  satisfy --

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Meet our need.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Or at least

          3  meet your need, correct?

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI:  That's correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And I want to

          6  be sure I understand what I heard before. So, once

          7  this is said and done, you do believe that this

          8  program is a meaningful program to address the

          9  issues at hand; is that fair to say?

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now my

         12  question relates to this hearing and the budget. If

         13  it is what you said, are you aware that in the

         14  Mayor's plan currently this program, regardless of

         15  what you do between now and April 1, and what you do

         16  between April 1 and June 30th, it is gone.

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I understand

         18  that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now, if we, as

         20  we move along, feel that we as an institution, as we

         21  negotiate, and I need OMB to hear, since I get the

         22  impression that it has nothing to do with program,

         23  services, it has to do with what happens to us down

         24  the road in terms of deficit, and while the Chairman

         25  consistently says, and it blows my mind after being
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          2  here 14 years, when it comes to pet projects, nobody

          3  questions or worries about what happens two and

          4  three and four years, but the Chairman keeps talking

          5  about the surplus, this is the second year we have

          6  had a surplus --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think it is

          8  the third year.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Well, okay,

         10  the third year. In the meantime, it is also a year

         11  where the federal government balances its budget and

         12  it is also a year where the state has a surplus, and

         13  everybody is ignoring that -- oh, by the way, we are

         14  going to be careful for the years -- if we restore

         15  this to the budget as we move along, will we see the

         16  same scenario because OMB says to you, you know, we

         17  got to look at the outer years; do you understand

         18  where I am coming from?

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I understand.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And honestly,

         21  Commissioner, I think we have to be honest with each

         22  other, and truthful, because if the impression like

         23  we have in the past was that we should do it, and

         24  you did, and I commend you, Mr. Chairman, this came

         25  back on the table because of hearings, then please
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          2  don't waste my time. And I am being honest because

          3  it has happened to many times.

          4                 Now, either we are going to deal with

          5  the questions about whether people come back or not,

          6  deal with treatment which is -- I mean, I hate --

          7  look at this morning's paper. People are so quick,

          8  the press is quick to always say 60 to 80 percent

          9  are minorities incarcerated and in probation 60 to

         10  70 percent, 80 percent have problems drug-related.

         11  So, don't you think we should be addressing that?

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, Councilman,

         13  one of my major proposals for next year is to deal

         14  exactly with that problem you just stated about drug

         15  treatment. It is my intent and my hope that by the

         16  end of this year we will be testing every single

         17  individual coming into our system to find out

         18  whether they are positive on drugs or not and to get

         19  them into a program, into a treatment.

         20                 First, obviously I have to do an

         21  analysis of what the impacts of that is, so I am

         22  doing a pilot project, in your particular borough,

         23  in Brooklyn, we are going to test every probationer

         24  in Brooklyn to make sure if they are using drugs

         25  they can go into treatment.
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          2                 But ultimately to do that --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: If I may, my

          4  only problem with this whole scenario has nothing to

          5  do with you, it has to do with the pencil pushers,

          6  that are making decisions based upon numbers. You

          7  know, the Wall Street mentality.

          8                 And, again, in fairness to us, either

          9  we are going to address and deal with the issues or

         10  we are going to set the tone by numbers, and there

         11  is where I am having a problem in keeping track of

         12  the scenario. And I want to be clear, and Mr.

         13  Chairman, may I respectfully suggest --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Please.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: That we look

         16  at whatever the Mayor is proposing in any of the

         17  criminal justice areas, where he feels his pet

         18  projects are better than ours, well let's start with

         19  taking them out and then let's really negotiate and

         20  maybe, you know what? These programs, as the

         21  Councilman said to you and you agreed, maybe they

         22  will stay on the table and you won't have to worry

         23  about saying I take full responsibility, because

         24  when I am limited to a budget, and I need to then,

         25  you know, implement cuts, that at least whatever you

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            63

          1  DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION

          2  do, you might cut but they may survive.

          3                 I think some of us are getting tired

          4  that every time we attempt to -- and you know, what

          5  blows my mind and I must admit to OMB, this agency's

          6  budget is one of the smallest.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes, we said

          8  that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: But I want to

         10  repeat it. This agency happens to be one of the

         11  smallest in terms of the budget, and then you want

         12  to cut some more.

         13                 Well, let me tell you something, the

         14  band-aid and the adhesive will wear out, and you

         15  know, sometimes when we are so cheap it is going to

         16  come to haunt us tomorrow. Then all of a sudden you

         17  have the exposure about how, you know, those people,

         18  they don't do this.

         19                 So, I want to be clear, Mr. Chairman,

         20  I have no problem with addressing, with adding

         21  again, but my problem and I am going to keep saying

         22  it until we adopt the budget, I always thought that

         23  a consent budget was based upon mutual agreement.

         24                 This year the only problem that I

         25  must accept is that we pass our own budget. And I
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          2  recognize that from July until November, until after

          3  the election was said and done, but I knew it was

          4  going to come, but we passed a budget mod and the

          5  budget mod was a consent agreement between the

          6  Administration and the Council, and guess what, this

          7  program was not implemented.

          8                 Now we are coming up to another

          9  budget mod within the next two weeks of which this

         10  program is not in, and I don't understand how the

         11  program, and my point is, at the end of the road it

         12  is only going to be two months, April, May and June,

         13  before we finally do whatever we put into the budget

         14  back in June, and I have a problem with this hearing

         15  and these hearings that says we do something. We

         16  have press releases and then all of a sudden we come

         17  at the end of the fiscal year and we find out that

         18  nothing was done.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Mr. Lamb, I

         20  think Mr. Robles is trying to make a statesman out

         21  of you at OMB, I mean so that you have a perspective

         22  there that is broader than just the green eyeshades

         23  mentality, but that you go back and tell the others

         24  there, like your supervisors, that their are future

         25  lives at stake here, and that in fact, $711,000
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          2  proposed to be saved by eliminating this program, is

          3  actually about the same amount of money that was

          4  used for the parade for John Glenn, or the parade

          5  for Sammy Sosa and what will have a more long-term

          6  impact on people's lives, keeping the 170

          7  individuals in this program, and giving them a

          8  chance at counseling and drug treatment and

          9  vocational training, or have hundreds of thousands

         10  of people go to give another parade for -- I mean, I

         11  am sure there is more political appeal in having

         12  millions of people come down for a parade for Mr.

         13  Glenn, even if it is this multiple parade, but in

         14  terms of real impact on the lives of people over

         15  time, I think, you know, I think that this will have

         16  more impact. I submit you have to look at it more

         17  broadly than just saving the money.

         18                 Councilman Golden.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chair. Wow, you are a victim of your own success.

         21  This is the first committee hearing that I have gone

         22  to that we are actually attacking you because you

         23  are not doing what we want you to do, and you are

         24  doing a fantastic job in dollars. Nobody in the

         25  other agencies is even close to the cutting that you
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          2  have been able to do with your agency and I think

          3  that is what the Committee is trying to point out

          4  here, maybe we shouldn't be cutting as much.

          5                 But it is interesting that the Smith

          6  Bell Program, which I know you guys are sick of

          7  hearing this right now, but I just want to hear on

          8  it, it costs about, looking at it, about $60,000 per

          9  individual?

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It's very

         11  expensive.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: So, isn't that

         13  -- I think we would agree that that is an awful lot

         14  of money.

         15                 Is your new design, is it going to --

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It is going to

         17  reduce that dramatically.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: It is.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes. The cost.

         20                 We expect that we will be able to cut

         21  that in at least half or maybe more.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Okay. Because

         23  that I think even the Chairman would agree that

         24  $60,000 per individual is an extremely high amount

         25  of money.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Again, it

          3  depends upon whether it is your son or not, Mr.

          4  Golden. I am sure that for the people who are

          5  involved, to the extent that they have 20 percent

          6  less recidivism, it is important for them over a

          7  long time. And also a third of this is state funds,

          8  and, you know, I think it depends on your

          9  perspective.

         10                 If you think that you save and give a

         11  job to and prevent from being back in prison 170

         12  people a year, or whatever the percentage it is, you

         13  have to factor it in, the recidivism rates and stuff

         14  like that, but you are dealing with 170 people.

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes, but Mr.

         16  Chairman, you really have to do an analysis if you

         17  are running an organization, and with 60,000 plus

         18  individuals, to spend a couple of million dollars,

         19  and with success rates, maybe 40 individuals, when

         20  you have these tremendous large numbers, I think

         21  that would be really not a good management system,

         22  and ultimately you damage some people that you could

         23  have helped.

         24                 So, I mean my position in the Smith

         25  Bell, although I agree and I accept the fact that --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I think we all

          3  agree.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You see what is

          5  really at stake, Mr. Russi, is this: Your agency

          6  will keep running whether or not Smith Bell is

          7  running or not. Because you would come back for a

          8  budget modification. And the Year 2001, which is

          9  basically what the savings are going for, that will

         10  somehow or another be taken care of 2001.

         11                 So, in the real world I think it is

         12  the 40 people who will be basically on a better

         13  course of life, that is the net effect of

         14  eliminating your program; do you disagree with that?

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, we can help

         16  80 people or 100 people, or 150 people with the same

         17  dollar and expand the resources, I think you lose

         18  the benefit --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We are all in

         20  favor of better management --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Mr. Chairman,

         22  can I move on?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: -- I mean, to

         24  the extent that you can run this program better.

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That is exactly
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          2  what we are trying to do.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Mr. Golden, I am

          4  sorry.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you,

          6  sir.

          7                 I think we have heard enough about

          8  Smith Bell, I would like to move on to my next

          9  question.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think we have

         11  covered that issue.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Why don't you

         14  tell us how much it costs us to keep somebody on at

         15  Riker's Island.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: The Nightwatch

         17  teams, and with the -- and the Electronic Monitoring

         18  --

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN:-- Iron

         21  scanners; how is that working out?

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Very well. We are

         23  obviously in the early implementation stages with

         24  the ion scanners, but the ion scanners allow us to

         25  do unintrusive checks of probationers.
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          2                 They can come in, we can vacuum their

          3  clothes, we can go to their homes, vacuum their

          4  clothes in their homes, we can really monitor.

          5                 Part of what I am doing with the

          6  Brooklyn Project, I think it will incorporate the

          7  iron scanners with actual drug testing on site. We

          8  are just questioning the individual, are you using

          9  drugs or not? And if it is yes, then directly to a

         10  program. If he says no, he goes into a room and gets

         11  checked to see if they are using or not. We go to

         12  their homes and they say they are not using drugs

         13  and we see the home looks a little strange, we can

         14  vacuum the area around them and find out if they in

         15  fact are using drugs or selling drugs.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And this has all

         17  been upheld against the constitutional challenge?

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, first of

         19  all, what we are going to be using the ion scanners

         20  is a supervision tool, if we believe that the

         21  individual is around drugs or using drugs, we are

         22  going to pull that individual in and we can test

         23  them, and that has been upheld. So, therefore, it is

         24  just a tool to let us know whether they are

         25  involved.
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          2                 The actual ion scanner test we are

          3  not going to use in court. We will then pull the

          4  individual in and use them.

          5                 Now, if we find there is drug

          6  activity in the home and we test the probationer and

          7  he is not positive, that means he is just selling

          8  drugs, then we are going to send police officers and

          9  Probation Officers in the team to watch that house

         10  and see if there is drug activity, and if we catch

         11  them we are going to arrest them and put them in

         12  jail, because this is not about a problem, this is

         13  profiteering.

         14                 So those are the kind of decisions we

         15  can make using the ion scanners and the drug testing

         16  that we need to do. I think it is a nice

         17  combination, strong combination to do good strong

         18  supervision, and to hopefully get their attention

         19  that we are willing to provide the assistance to get

         20  them into treatment, but we are not going to

         21  tolerate a continuation of violation of the law in

         22  drug dealing.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: You had 40,000

         24  field operations.

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            72

          1  DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And out of

          3  that there was 17,000 curfews and 1,200 rearrests,

          4  along with 52 juveniles. I find that number very

          5  interesting, so this program is definitely working.

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Oh, it is

          7  working, there is no doubt about it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: This is one of

          9  the more successful rates I have seen.

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: No doubt about

         11  it. Absolutely.

         12                 And by the way, you know, you should

         13  know that part of the program's success comes from a

         14  discussion that was held in this Council with the

         15  Boston Project.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Exactly.

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: But I have shared

         18  that with you before.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And I appreciate

         20  you saying that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: What?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I appreciate you

         23  saying that. Tell the Mayor that.

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We went to Boston

         25  after we heard from -- I got to tell you, we heard
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          2  it from here, we heard it from the Mayor's Office,

          3  we heard it from several places, and we decided,

          4  okay, let's go to Boston, let's take a look at it

          5  and see if it is successful. And we didn't copy

          6  their program, we took the best pieces of their

          7  program and incorporated it into our program. And in

          8  fact, I believe that our program is a better

          9  program, and it has had some tremendous successes

         10  and it continues to have some tremendous successes.

         11                 So, you know --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And it probably

         13  has successes even beyond the numbers that you

         14  pointed out rightly, in terms of deterrence, because

         15  don't you think word will get out that you are doing

         16  this?

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Oh, there is no

         18  doubt about it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: There is

         20  another area that I believe that you need credit to

         21  be pointed towards and that is the community service

         22  program.

         23                 How many people working in the

         24  Community Service Program?

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I mean, as far as
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          2  how many probationers?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Both,

          4  probationers and employees. Employees and people on

          5  probation.

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: There are

          7  approximately -- we run several thousand and it goes

          8  up and down, depending on the judges, of individuals

          9  per year. And there is an officer assigned to each

         10  of the boroughs and then we have some staff in the

         11  office that actually, you know, do the paperwork and

         12  monitor the office.

         13                 But each borough, as you all know,

         14  has an officer assigned on-site in the borough and

         15  whenever the community service assignment is done in

         16  that borough it is done through that officer. And

         17  those officers just do a phenomenal job. They are

         18  innovators, they are community leaders, in some

         19  communities, as you well know they are involved in

         20  community boards. They will organize a particular

         21  street or block to take benefits, the benefits of a

         22  community service program and make it happen where

         23  it didn't happen before. They look for places to

         24  actually do the work in. So, this is a very

         25  aggressive, progressive way of doing community
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          2  supervision where we really become partners, real

          3  partners with the community-based agencies.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Well, I am

          5  impressed with it on a lot of areas, a lot of

          6  fronts, but this is one of your programs that should

          7  be designed Citywide to other organizations and

          8  other agencies. And the reason that I am impressed

          9  with it, is that you not only bring the people,

         10  obviously you supervise the people so, it gives the

         11  communities an extra arm to work with.

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: The one area that

         13  I think we have been probably a little lax and we

         14  should do a much better job, I think we have tried,

         15  but I don't think we have been as successful, is

         16  getting judges to assign community service to the

         17  probationer.

         18                 I mean, I would have a preference

         19  that either a legislation, a piece of legislation be

         20  written that says that every probation sentence

         21  should include community service. So, when an

         22  individual gets probation, included in that should

         23  be a minimum of several hours, whatever it may be,

         24  of community service.

         25                 I think that going back to the
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          2  community you live in and repairing some of the

          3  damage you caused by your crime, can be some of the

          4  best successes that you can have in the community,

          5  because people realize that what they do impacts on

          6  their neighbors and they have to go back and repair

          7  it and clean it up.

          8                 So, you know, that is one of my sort

          9  of pushes. I have been asking the judges to do more,

         10  I have been asking them if they agree to a plea that

         11  they include community service, I have asked the

         12  DAs, we have visited with the DAs and asked the DAs

         13  to include it as part of the plea.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That would be

         15  state legislation, would it not?

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It would be state

         17  legislation, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, if you

         19  could give us a bill and ask us to do a resolution

         20  in support, I think it's a good suggestion.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Okay. And I

         22  think we will be talking to the DAs some time in the

         23  next -- during this hearing, and I guess we can

         24  bring that up.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Wednesday.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Okay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I think the DAs

          4  are the critical people, because ultimately the plea

          5  negotiation is done with their concurrence. If they

          6  don't agree to a plea, it doesn't get done. Many,

          7  many, almost most of the individuals that end up on

          8  probation end up there as a part of the plea

          9  agreement, so it would be very simple for the DAs to

         10  say our policy is going to be that from now on

         11  whenever we agree to a plea on probationers there is

         12  going to be community service.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Could the City

         14  supervise those people?

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: What?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Would the City

         17  be able to supervise these people?

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes, absolutely

         19  we could do that. It may mean some adjustments, but

         20  the reality is that our staff, as the Councilman

         21  knows, handles small groups, we could do much more,

         22  and if we needed to add some staff that benefits, I

         23  think that is tremendous, and even I think OMB would

         24  agree that the service to the community would be so

         25   -- I mean, if you look at the graffiti issue, as we
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          2  talked about it, and the success and the graffiti

          3  clean-up of this City, in districts like the

          4  Bushwick district, it is phenomenal the work that

          5  has been done in those areas, but there is a lot

          6  more work to be done, and every day we end up with

          7  new places that we can clean up.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: You have

          9  fantastic programs. And another one which was also

         10  talked about today was Commissioner Gelamino's Nova

         11  Ancora, great programs. Great programs.

         12                 I just want to point out a story to

         13  my colleagues here, and I think it is interesting,

         14  that this is the year of the senior, and what I did

         15  for one of my first programs in my community for my

         16  seniors were to paint two of the senior centers

         17  within the community, and that was done on a weekend

         18  and it was done with the Probation Department, the

         19  supervised and the work done by the probation

         20  people. And believe me, it was a great plus for the

         21  community, plus for the probation, the seniors loved

         22  it and they did a good job, there was no paint and

         23  it was really, really well done. So, I applaud you

         24  for your great service and your great job. Be

         25  careful with that being a victim of your own
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          2  success, you are doing a great job.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In this area of

          6  your employment programs, other members have touched

          7  on a couple, but one that wasn't touched on is the

          8  one Center For Employment Opportunities, where you

          9  are also proposing a savings of $500,000 by

         10  eliminating job placement services to adults, and

         11  juvenile probationers provided by the Center for

         12  Employment Opportunities; isn't that right?

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Why are you

         15  doing that?

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, first you

         17  should know that originally that program was not

         18  part of a request that came from the Department of

         19  Probation.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right, it is

         21  subsumed within your budget, it is really a secret

         22  grant.

         23                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But they do

         25  basically the sort of work you do, right?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            80

          1  DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION

          2                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Oh, you are

          3  absolutely right. But, again, the same answers to

          4  the same question: When you are asked to cut, and

          5  you have to make a decision between a program that

          6  not only was not on your list, but you have to make

          7  that decision between some service that is being

          8  provided at the moment, that is important,

          9  supervision and Nightwatch and these types of

         10  programs, you know, you have to do what you have to

         11  do. I understand your concern. These are programs

         12  that are important. If you restore them we will

         13  develop them and we will work them, but ultimately

         14  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Isn't this

         16  another example of what Mr. Robles was pointing out,

         17  and that is, we added money for Center for

         18  Employment Opportunities; isn't that right?

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In the current

         21  year's budget.

         22                 So, now you say, if you restore it we

         23  will keep it, but we restored it.

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: But the reality

         25  is that when you make decisions you have to make
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          2  year after year, this was a new program, we had to

          3  make decisions, a budget decision about what the

          4  agency needs were and taken into consideration what

          5  the City's needs were and it is a priority call.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think this is

          7  another example, like Mr. Michels said, of your

          8  counting on the Council to restore the funding for

          9  the Center for Employment Opportunities.

         10                 You know that the person who heads

         11  this up is a former OMB analyst who used to be here

         12  like you year after year, Mindy Tarlow; are you

         13  familiar?

         14                 MR. LAMB: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: She used to work

         16  here doing just what you did. Coming back -- I mean,

         17  some day, Mr. Lamb, some of us might give you the

         18  same thing. I mean, you will be here with some

         19  higher salary with some outside organization making

         20  a plea for just the opposite of what you are doing

         21  now.

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I have to correct

         23  myself because the Center for Employment Opportunity

         24  is a little different than the other program I was

         25  talking about, but we still have -- the answer is
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          2  basically the same.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

          4                 Council Member Juanita Watkins.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.

          6                 Mr. Commissioner, your pilot program

          7  in Brooklyn, how long are you piloting this program?

          8                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Three months.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So, when will

         10  that three months be up?

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We plan to start

         12  April, so by the end of June. So by the end, you

         13  know, when we start the new fiscal year, we will

         14  study that over that period of time and a few months

         15  after, so for our next budget presentation we will

         16  have a good sense of where we are and we will do

         17  that.

         18                 But you must remember that we already

         19  drug test a large number of our population. It isn't

         20  like -- we are just going to do everybody now, which

         21  is different than we were doing. But the number

         22  itself doesn't mean that we are going to eliminate

         23  drug testing. We do sporadic checks, we have the ion

         24  scanners, there are a lot of other areas that we

         25  use, so this is just another approach to increase,
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          2  to make it better, to see if we really can put sort

          3  of a dragnet so everybody that comes through the

          4  system.

          5                 Ideally, if I had my druthers, every

          6  judge when they order a PSI, a Pre-Sentence

          7  Investigation, should include a drug test at their

          8  request. So, when the judge says I want this

          9  individual investigated to make a determination what

         10  we are going to do with a sentence, a drug test

         11  should be part of that, and that is not being done.

         12  And that way you wouldn't have to do this, because

         13  it would be done immediately. The judge would have

         14  the order in his hand, they would know whether the

         15  individual is using drugs at the time. They may make

         16  a determination that this type of sentence is not

         17  appropriate.

         18                 On the other hand, they may put very

         19  specific orders about treatment and getting involved

         20  in treatment that will help the Probation Department

         21  have the muscle to enforce. So, there are some real

         22  positive things that can happen.

         23                 So, I am going to try the pilot, make

         24  it work, if it works I am going to propose to the

         25  judges that they do it at the very early stages when
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          2  the PSIs are ordered.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: So, in

          4  essence, when we have executive budget hearings, you

          5  feel that you would be in the position at that time

          6  to really give us some definitive feedback as to the

          7  effectiveness of this program and therefore

          8  budgeting it.

          9                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I believe that we

         10  will.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Just one more

         12  question. You said that the South Forty Program was

         13  one that was, you felt was successful but it was not

         14  high up on your list of priority?

         15                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I am sorry, let

         16  me clarify that.

         17                 First of all, the South Forty

         18  contract is a new contract in which we have not yet

         19  actually fully implemented. So therefore I can tell

         20  you that it is a good proposal, that we have a good

         21  plan, that we hope to be successful, and that we

         22  think it is a good idea, but we don't know yet, we

         23  will know in the future.

         24                 However, the priority calls are the

         25  same. If you have a program that you haven't
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          2  started, compared it to supervision of offenders on

          3  a daily basis, day-to-day basis, Nightwatch and some

          4  of the other programs we have to do, you have to

          5  make decisions.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: So, in other

          7  words, if this program, the South Forty Program,

          8  which is a good proposal in your estimation, if the

          9  Council was to put the money in the budget for that

         10  program, might we expect that that would be a

         11  program that would be implemented, or might it

         12  suffer the same fate of some of the programs that

         13  were put in last?

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: The only program

         15  that we -- if the money gets restored then the

         16  program will move forward because that is our

         17  intention.

         18                 You know, the Smith Bell is different

         19  because I had some concerns about Smith Bell, and we

         20  did something different with Smith Bell. All the

         21  other programs, we continued. ATC was continued, all

         22  the other programs were continued, we had some

         23  discussions about whether they should be cut or not

         24  as it relates to decisions that had to be made about

         25  the priorities of the agency. But the Smith Bell was
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          2  the only program that I made a decision, not budget,

          3  that said administratively this program has to be

          4  changed and we change it. Now it has taken us a

          5  little longer than it should have, and I admit that,

          6  and I take responsibility for that, but ultimately,

          7  I think when we finish with Smith Bell we are going

          8  to have a better program.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Commissioner,

         11  there are a few other areas that haven't been

         12  covered and maybe we can go through them a little

         13  bit more quickly.

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Sure.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: One is that you

         16  have a joint program to track probationers with HRA,

         17  right?

         18                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It is in the

         19  planning stages. We are actually in the

         20  implementation stages.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see.

         22                 Can you explain what this joint

         23  effort will involve?

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: We, and I think

         25  this was a real good idea, and I think the members

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            87

          1  DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION

          2  of my staff, Carol Pendel Roberts, and several

          3  others with the HRA staff came up with the idea,

          4  which said that there were individuals on probation

          5  that were also being serviced by HRA.

          6                 They had both at HRA and at Probation

          7  been given instructions to get involved in drug

          8  treatment. So, we did a data match to see how many

          9  individuals were on probation that were also in

         10  HRA's caseload and what their situation was, and we

         11  found a significant match, close to 4,000. So, we

         12  decided that if we could jointly supervise those

         13  individuals and then we could jointly look at

         14  treatment programs, HRA was going to be paying for

         15  some treatment programs, we are paying for some

         16  treatment programs. HRA has the ability to obtain

         17  federal funds to some of the national changes in the

         18  welfare reform that we don't have. So, it was an

         19  opportunity for us to use some of the resources

         20  available through HRA for our population.

         21                 But you have to remember, that is our

         22  population to begin with, I mean we are just sharing

         23  the responsibility with HRA because it is their

         24  responsibility too. So here is a two City agencies

         25  coming together, joining together, and jointly
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          2  working on the individual's problem so that we don't

          3  misuse City services and City dollars, sending

          4  individuals to different programs, they play one

          5  against the other, and, you know, I could go on an

          6  hour about some of the games that are played by

          7  offenders trying to chase programs and basically not

          8  be held responsible, so this will eliminate that.

          9                 This is one of these things that is

         10  new. As we implement it, we may be back here

         11  bragging about it at some point, or we may be back

         12  here telling you that it didn't work. But we believe

         13  that it will work.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Incidentally, I

         15  also commend your approach of specifically by name

         16  mentioning the staff person who originated the idea,

         17  rather than it being your idea.

         18                 The New York Times yesterday had this

         19  thing about Bob Shapiro with Monsanta, and the

         20  different corporate cultures, I think it was they

         21  and DuPont, for example, and how different cultures

         22  bring out different things with different people and

         23  I think you have got the right approach.

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, I am a

         25  believer --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In terms of

          3  listening to people, acknowledging people.

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: You can't run an

          5  agency by yourself, and I have run very large

          6  agencies and you need people to do it, and the

          7  people like to hear, at least I believe they do,

          8  that what they are doing is good. I mean, that is

          9  one of the reasons we created the Awards Program for

         10  the Department, to let people know they are doing a

         11  good job.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Just real quick.

         14  The night before last I was up at the Fund for the

         15  City of New York. One of our Probationer Officers

         16  was honored by the Fund for the City of New York for

         17  the work that they are doing in the courts, the CLOs

         18  that do the work in the courts. They were nominated

         19  by the judges. He was nominated by the judges for

         20  the tremendous work that he does in that courtroom.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is so

         22  underappreciated how many City employees do good

         23  jobs, and I think what the Fund of the City of New

         24  York was years ago, since I have gone to one of

         25  their programs, we get invited, you know, I think it
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          2  should be recognized.

          3                 Moving on: Privatization of

          4  restitution services. In the first four months of

          5  Fiscal '99, your restitution unit collected more

          6  payments but less total dollars than the year

          7  before. In Fiscal Year 2000 you are planning to

          8  contract out restitution services and you say you

          9  are going to save $51,000. There are five staff

         10  members in the unit, three of whom are City funded,

         11  why are you deciding to contract restitution

         12  services?

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: You know, it is

         14  interesting, you said a little while ago people

         15  should get credit for their ideas, well I just want

         16  you to know that was mine.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, this one I

         18  really question, Commissioner.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Let me tell you

         20  why I think it is a good idea and I think it will

         21  have tremendous benefit for the City.

         22                 You know, as we all know, there are

         23  things that private sector businesses do better than

         24  government services, and there are things that

         25  government services do better than private, and I am
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          2  a believer there is a happy medium there. One of the

          3  things that private sector does better than City

          4  government does is handle money, and they know how

          5  to collect it, how to get it, how to get it and be

          6  aggressive about it, because they make money at it,

          7  that is what they do. We collect a tremendous amount

          8  of money to the restitution, but we also don't

          9  collect a whole another amount of money, and we were

         10  criticized years back by the Comptroller's audit as

         11  to what a limited job we are doing.

         12                 We have increased dramatically, we

         13  have a computerized system now that we think does a

         14  much better job. We think that we can take that to

         15  another level and we can use the private sector

         16  banking industry, there are several agencies, we

         17  have done some research at a national level, at

         18  other states and other counties that are doing

         19  collection, using private sector, and their numbers

         20  are very successful.

         21                 So, we are now in the process of

         22  collecting that data and putting together a proposal

         23  that will do that.

         24                 I believe it can be done. I believe

         25  it can have tremendous benefit and ultimately
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          2  collect more money for the victims, because

          3  ultimately all of this money goes back to the

          4  victims.

          5                 Right now there is a number of

          6  victims who get orders of restitution who never

          7  collect.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So, even know

          9  the private firm that is doing this will keep a

         10  percentage, the net collection for the individual

         11  victims and their families will be greater --

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I think it will

         13  be much greater.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         15                 Moving on --

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I want to say

         17  that this is not a negative on that part of our

         18  agency. I think they have done a good job, they have

         19  done an excellent job.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, it's a trend

         21  in City government. I mean, in the years that I have

         22  been here a number of agencies have basically gone,

         23  parking violations, for example, I think ECB also

         24  uses to some extent private firms to collect money.

         25  You know, it is like the incentive system, if you
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          2  give people an incentive you think they may do more.

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: That's right, and

          4  the benefactors will be the victims. And obviously

          5  if it doesn't work, we will go back to what we are

          6  doing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right, and that

          8  has been done too.

          9                 Salary increments. The Department has

         10  developed a productivity incentive for employees

         11  called the Step and Longevity Plan.

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And employees

         14  will be eligible for additional compensation if the

         15  Department increases productivity, and I understand

         16  you are anticipating a savings of $1.68 million in

         17  Fiscal Year 2000 under this plan; could you explain

         18  how it would work?

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I think it is

         20  probably better explained by Millie O'Toole.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Please.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER O'TOOLE: Okay.

         23  Well, I am new at this. My understanding, Mr.

         24  Chairman, of the Longevity Plan, is that this has

         25  been a process that has been agreed to with the
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          2  unions.

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Just the one

          4  clarification before Millie finishes, because I

          5  think it was in addition to our budget, not a

          6  savings, because it was part of an adjustment that

          7  was needed because there had been a lack of

          8  adjustments over several years. So, we pled our case

          9  to the Division of the Budget and they agreed that

         10  this needed to be done, so they did make an

         11  adjustment to our budget to pay for those dollars,

         12  so that dollars that were being used for that could

         13  be used for the rest of the services. So, it wasn't

         14  a savings, it was an adjustment.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right, an

         16  adjustment, okay. Basically it is an addition.

         17                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It's an addition,

         18  yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. So, how is

         20  this going to work?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER O'TOOLE: Well, it

         22  works by an increment that is provided to the

         23  probation officers, they received, over a ten-year

         24  period, I believe, approximately $9,000 that is

         25  issued to them on an annual basis, and --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: This will happen

          3  you are saying, over the next ten years?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER O'TOOLE: It has

          5  been happening.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Oh, it has been

          7  happening.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER O'TOOLE: Yes.

          9                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER O'TOOLE: This was

         11  in an effort for the Division of the Budget to make

         12  us hold and to restore our budget in that regard.

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It's a good

         14  thing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How many

         16  employees are involved? Are all of your Probation

         17  Officers --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER O'TOOLE: The

         19  Probation Officers and Supervising Probation

         20  Officers.

         21                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: These are our

         22  line staff.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. And is

         24  there going to be any measure of productivity, or do

         25  you expect this to be a general increment or what?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER O'TOOLE: Maybe

          3  Felix can help me out with it, but I believe that

          4  this is a function of their longevity, rather than

          5  productivity.

          6                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It is one of the

          7  things I think that we talked a little bit about

          8  here when I was here last for the MMR, in our

          9  efforts to retain our staff to try to make some

         10  adjustments, and to try to keep that. You know, the

         11  salary level between us and the Department -- let's

         12  say, for instance, the Division of the State, there

         13  is a difference and we are trying to adjust that so

         14  that we don't lose the staff and we don't have a

         15  high turn-around rate.

         16                 And as a matter of fact, since that

         17  happened we have reduced the turn-around rate on the

         18  number of people that leave so that has been a

         19  benefit.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         21                 Every time I am here I have a

         22  different staff person on my staff, so I think that

         23  this is something if it works out with probation,

         24  you might advise the individual Council members how

         25  we can get a salary increment program to help us
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          2  keep our own good staff. It is particularly

          3  difficult with term limits now.

          4                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I am sure that

          5  will help. Increase the salary maybe.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Fiscal '99, the

          7  Department is proposing a new need in the amount of

          8  $1.7 million in the Year 2000 to fund salary

          9  increments; is this a continuation of the same

         10  program?

         11                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see. It is,

         13  okay.

         14                 Your adult services automatic kiosk

         15  system, I believe you said about a year ago that the

         16  Department was introducing this system so it would

         17  be operational in Manhattan, Queens, Brooklyn and

         18  Staten Island by the end of Fiscal Year '99. Will

         19  all of the kiosks be operational?

         20                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I want to

         21  introduce my Dep for Operations, Jan English.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ENGLISH:  The

         23  kiosk actually is a secondary portion of our ARTS

         24  System, Adult Restructuring Tracking System, which a

         25  full computer implementation, will be implemented,
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          2  we are currently operational with ARTS in Manhattan,

          3  Staten Island and Queens, Brooklyn is coming up this

          4  month, with Bronx being completed by the end of the

          5  fiscal year. The kiosk cannot be installed until

          6  ARTS is in because of the two systems link. Based on

          7  current schedule, kiosks will be operational in all

          8  boroughs probably by September of this year.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Thank you, Jan.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That's good.

         12                 Okay, anything else that we should

         13  know?

         14                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: I don't think so.

         15  I think you have asked all of the questions and we

         16  have tried to answer them the best we can.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         18                 Maybe I can ask one other question.

         19  You had commented about this drug treatment program

         20  that you are hoping to do; that is not in the

         21  documents, is it? I mean that is something --

         22                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: The drug testing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The drug

         24  testing, right.

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It is in the
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          2  document, yes. It is in my testimony.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Oh, in your

          4  testimony. It is in your testimony.

          5                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And just what

          7  are you planning to do? You are planning to test all

          8  of the people who come into the system? Why don't

          9  you explain it.

         10                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Yes, right now --

         11  and by the way, the State of Delaware has done this,

         12  and they have been tremendously successful. I was

         13  advised by the Mayor's Office just recently that

         14  they read somewhere, and I did some research and in

         15  fact it is true.

         16                 But what we plan to do is that every

         17  individual who is assigned a sentence of probation,

         18  at the intake point, at the time they show up and

         19  say we are here, one of the first things they are

         20  going to be asked, after they ask their name and

         21  address and all of that other stuff, is are you

         22  using drugs.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: When they are

         24  assigned to probation.

         25                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: When they are
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          2  assigned to probation, right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see. So, this

          4  is still a small percentage of all of the people who

          5  are taken into the system? I mean, into the prison

          6  system generally. This is just for probation.

          7                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: This is

          8  probation. Every probationer is assigned a probation

          9  sentence, when they show up at intake they will be

         10  asked "are you using drugs?" If they say yes, then

         11  they will be directed to a drug treatment program or

         12  an appropriate program with the supervisor.

         13                 If they say no, we will then test

         14  them. And those individuals will also be assigned to

         15  a program if they are positive also.

         16                 Right now we are testing certain

         17  groups, but we are not doing it with everybody. We

         18  want to do it with everybody.

         19                 So, that will give us a sense, we

         20  will do it three months, we will see how the numbers

         21  work out, and it will give us a determination of

         22  whether we need some additional drug testing

         23  equipment, whether we need slots, because we

         24  contract with some providers and some providers

         25  provide it as part of their own budget. There are
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          2  agencies who get funded from OASAS and other places

          3  directly that treat that we don't pay any services

          4  to, and there are those that we have direct

          5  contracts with.

          6                 We will analyze for Brooklyn whether

          7  we have enough slots to take care of the numbers

          8  that we are dealing with, and then if we don't, we

          9  will come back and have some discussions about how

         10  to implement that.

         11                 We think because, you know, in the

         12  beginning we are going to be asking up front are you

         13  using or not, and then we are going to be testing,

         14  that in the beginning there will be a lot of nos,

         15  and as soon as we start testing there will be a lot

         16  of yeses, so I think it will work out as far as the

         17  testing.

         18                 As far as the drug treatment slots,

         19  the studies in the past show 80 percent of the

         20  individuals coming into the criminal justice system

         21  are using drugs, our own analysis shows a much lower

         22  number than that, and we hope to see what that

         23  discrepancy is and see if in fact something happened

         24  between the time they were arrested and the time

         25  they came on probation to stop using drugs, got into
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          2  a treatment hoping to get a better sentence,

          3  whatever, so we will have a much better sense of

          4  what that is.

          5                 So, I think this will be a good

          6  thing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Me, too.

          8                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: And I think the

          9  City will ultimately be much safer for it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Do we have the

         11  resources to give treatment to the anticipate people

         12  who --

         13                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Well, that is

         14  part of what we will be testing for, that is exactly

         15  what we will be testing for, we believe in our

         16  initial observations that we will -- we have to make

         17  sure, before I implement something like this

         18  Citywide, I want to make sure that we are okay and

         19  that we can cover the slots. There are waiting lists

         20  in some of these programs, we have to figure out

         21  exactly what is the actual need.

         22                 Ultimately the Mayor has been very

         23  committed to drug treatment, as a matter of fact he

         24  put in, added to our budget on several years now to

         25  increase the number of slots, I think -- and I
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          2  shared this personally with him and he thinks it is

          3  a good idea, so I think we are going in the right

          4  direction.

          5                 As a matter of fact, he is the one

          6  that mentioned to me about Delaware and I think --

          7  either him or somebody on his staff, that the

          8  Delaware had done this and been very successful, and

          9  in fact that is true.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So this is an

         11  area where you may ask for more funding?

         12                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: It may, and then

         13  it may not. It may be that we have the resources.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right, that you

         15  can cover it now.

         16                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. Well, we

         18  will be interested in seeing how this turns out.

         19                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I have no other

         21  questions. If there are none other, I think

         22  Corrections is here, so we will move on.

         23                 Thanks very much.

         24                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We look forward
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          2  to seeing you in a couple of months.

          3                 COMMISSIONER RUSSI: Thank you.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            105

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 4th day of March 1999.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            106

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410
